
 

To promote cooperative actions with communities to protect the Carson River Watershed. 

 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

DATE:  January 21, 2026 

TIME:  6:30 pm 

LOCATION: Carson City Community Center, Bonanza Room 

851 E. William Street, Suite 209, Carson City, NV 89701 

CWSD encourages Board members to attend in person, but virtual attendance is available via Zoom.   
Call (669)900-9128 if you prefer to phone in. Meeting ID: 811 1225 0364 ; Passcode: 066289 

AGENDA 

Please Note: The Carson Water Subconservancy District (CWSD) Board may: 1) take agenda items out of order;  
2) combine two or more items for consideration; and/or 3) remove an item from the agenda or delay discussion 
related to an item at any time.  All votes will be conducted by the CWSD Board of Directors.  Reasonable efforts will 
be made to assist and accommodate individuals with limited ability to speak, write, or understand English or those 
with disabilities who wish to join the meeting.  Please contact Catrina Schambra at (775)887-7450 or email: 
catrina@cwsd.org at least 3 business days in advance so that arrangements can be made. 

1. Call to Order the CWSD Board of Directors/Carson River Watershed Committee 

2. Roll Call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. For Discussion Only:  Public Comment  (Public Comment will be taken at the beginning and 
end of the meeting and may be taken at the discretion of the Chair on agenda items listed for possible 
action. Action may not be taken on any matter brought up under public comment until scheduled for 
action at a later meeting. Public comment during meetings is limited to three minutes for each speaker.) 

5. For Possible Action:  Approval of Agenda 

6. For Possible Action:  Approval of the Board Meeting Minutes of Dec. 17, 2025 & 
Special Board Meeting of Jan. 5, 2026 

7. For Discussion Only:  Presentation of the 2026 Andy Aldax Awards 

**CONSENT AGENDA** 

Please Note:  All matters listed under the consent agenda are considered routine and may be acted upon by the 
Board of Directors with one action and without extensive hearing.  Any member of the Board or any citizen may 
request that an item be taken from the consent agenda, discussed, and acted upon separately during this meeting. 

8. For Possible Action:  Approval of the Treasurer’s Report for December 2025 

9. For Possible Action:  Approval of Payment of Bills for December 2025 

10. For Possible Action:  Approval of Contract #2026-1 with Kimley-Horn for Regen 
Ag Engineering, not to exceed $50,000 

11. For Possible Action:  Approval of the 2025 Activities & Accomplishments Annual 
Report 

Carson Water Subconservancy District 
Board of Directors & Carson River Watershed Committee 

Page 1 of 97

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81112250364?pwd=XpG7VczWLXumYegH2Mkoa7eNJS4ueo.1
mailto:catrina@cwsd.org


Carson Water Subconservancy District Board of Directors & Carson River Watershed Committee 
1/21/26 Meeting Agenda 

To promote cooperative actions with communities to protect the Carson River Watershed. 

**END CONSENT AGENDA** 

12. For Possible Action:  Friends of Hope Valley Recognition 

13. For Discussion Only:  Presentation on the South Silver Springs ADMP  

14. For Possible Action:  Approval of New General Manager Contract 

15. For Discussion Only:  Staff Reports 

• General Manager 

• Legal 

• Correspondence 

16. For Discussion Only:  Directors & Committee Members Reports 

17. For Discussion Only:  Public Comment (Public Comment will be taken at the beginning and 
end of the meeting and may be taken at the discretion of the Chair on agenda items listed for possible 
action. Action may not be taken on any matter brought up under public comment until scheduled for 
action at a later meeting. Public comment during meetings is limited to three minutes for each speaker.) 

18. Adjournment 
 

Supporting material for this meeting may be requested from Catrina Schambra at  
775-887-7450 (catrina@cwsd.org) and is available on the CWSD website at https://www.cwsd.org 

AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 

The undersigned affirms that on or before 9 am on January 15, 2026, a copy of the Notice of Public Meeting and 
Agenda for the January 21, 2026, meeting of the Carson Water Subconservancy District Board of Directors, per 
NRS 241.020 was posted at the following locations:  Carson Water Subconservancy District, 777 E. William St, 
Ste 209, Carson City, NV 89701; CWSD Website:  https://www.cwsd.org; and Nevada Public Notice Website:  
https://notice.nv.gov/ 
 
 
 

 
       January 14, 2026, 5 pm

 ____________________________________   ____________________________________ 
Catrina Schambra, CWSD Office Manager   Date & Time of Posting 

Page 2 of 97

https://www.cwsd.org/
https://www.cwsd.org/agendas-temporary/cwsd-board-meetings/
https://notice.nv.gov/


AGENDA ITEM #6 

 

MINUTES OF LAST 

BOARD MEETING 

Page 3 of 97



DRAFT 

1 12/17/2025 

 

 

CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

Board of Directors 

& Carson River Watershed Committee Meeting 

December 17, 2025 

Draft Minutes 

Chairperson Ernie Schank called the Carson Water Subconservancy District (CWSD) Board of 
Directors Meeting to order at 6:33 pm in the CWSD Conference Room at 777 E. William Street, 
Suite 209, Carson City, NV  89701. A roll call of the CWSD Board of Directors determined a 
quorum was present. 

CWSD Directors present: 

Stacey Giomi 

Sharla Hales 

Tammy Hendrix  

Doug Johnson 

Cassi Koerner 

Ernie Schank 

Lisa Schuette 

Lee Sterrett 

Fred Stodieck 

Nathan Tolbert 

Mike Workman 

Directors Getto & Hindle were absent.  The roll call included CWSD Committee Members 

present, David Griffith & Charlie Dobson. 

CWSD Staff & Guests present: 

Brenda Hunt, CWSD 

Ed James, CWSD 

Steve King, CWSD Attorney 

Lindsay Marsh, CWSD 

Debbie Neddenriep, CWSD 

Kelly Nicholas, CWSD 

Catrina Schambra, CWSD  

Committee Member Griffith led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item #4 – Discussion Only:  Public Comment –  

Chairperson Schank thanked Mr. James and CWSD Staff for putting together the annual Christmas 
Dinner.  

Item #5 – For Possible Action:  Approval of Agenda 

Committee Member Griffith motioned to approve the Agenda for 

December 17, 2025, as presented. Director Koerner seconded the motion 

and the Board unanimously approved. 

Item #6 – For Possible Action:  Approval of Board Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2025 

Director Schuette motioned to approve the Board Meeting Minutes of 

November 19, 2025, as presented. Committee Member Griffith seconded 

the motion and the Board unanimously approved. 

RECESSED TO CONVENE AS THE ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE  

Item #7 – Roll Call of Administrative Committee Members: 

Giomi, Griffith, Koerner. Sterrett & Workman present. Getto absent. 

Item #8 – Discussion Only:  Public Comment – None 

Page 4 of 97



DRAFT 

2 12/17/2025 

 

 

Item #9 – For Possible Action:  Approval of the Administrative Committee Meeting Minutes 

of December 8, 2025 

Director Giomi motioned to approve the Administrative Committee 

Meeting Minutes of December 8, 2025, as presented. Committee Member 

Griffith seconded the motion and the Board unanimously approved. 

Item 10 – Discussion Only:  Public Comment – None 

ADJOURNED TO RECONVENE AS THE  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS & CARSON RIVER WATERSHED COMMITTEE 

**CONSENT AGENDA** 

Item #11 – For Possible Action: Approval of Treasurer’s Report for November 2025 

Item #12 - For Possible Action:  Approval of Payment of Bills for November 2025 

Item #13 - For Possible Action:  Authorize CWSD staff to pursue Allen Family 

Philanthropies Accelerating Natural Climate Solutions (NCS) Grant   

Item #14 - For Possible Action:  Authorize CWSD staff to pursue the Nevada Department of 

Transportation (NDOT) “Better Utilizing Investments to Leverage Development (BUILD) 

Grant 

Director Giomi made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as 

presented.  The motion was seconded by Director Tolbert and 

unanimously approved by the Board. 

**END CONSENT AGENDA** 

Item #15 - For Possible Action:  Select the 2026 Andy Aldax Award Recipient(s) 

Mr. James presented the Administrative Committee’s recommendations for recipients of the 
2026 Andy Aldax Award, Fred Stodieck and Terry Katzer, highlighting their extraordinary 
contributions to the watershed. The Board discussed the importance of recognizing long-term 
contributions to the watershed and the impact of these individuals on the community. 

Director Schuette made a motion to award the 2026 Andy Aldax Awards 

to Terry Katzer and Fred Stodieck. The motion was seconded by Director 

Hales and unanimously approved by the Board. 

Item #16 - For Possible Action:  Approval of the 30-Year Regional Drought & Water 

Sustainability Plan 

Mr. James presented the 30-Year Regional Drought And Water Sustainability Plan, focusing on 
the impact of groundwater pumping and changes in river flows. The presentation included data 
on historic river flows, groundwater pumping, and the impact of agriculture on water usage.  
Mr. James discussed the importance of planning for future water demands and the need for 
conjunctive management to balance surface and groundwater resources. The board discusses the 
implications of the plan for future water management and the need for continued monitoring 
and adaptation.   

View presentation slides here. 

 

Page 5 of 97

https://www.cwsd.org/wp-content/uploads/2026/01/Wrap_up_30-Year_Plan_Pres-EJ-.pdf


DRAFT 

3 12/17/2025 

 

 

Director Giomi made a motion to approve the 30-Year Regional Drought 

& Water Stability Plan as presented.  The motion was seconded by 

Director Johnson and it was unanimously approved by the Board. 

Item #17 - For Possible Action:  Approval of Board Members to attend the Nevada Water 

Resources Association (NWRA) Annual Conference, February 2-5, 2026, in Las Vegas 

Mr. James reported the fiscal year 2025-26 budget includes funding for two Board members to 
attend the conference.  Chairperson Schank stated that if it has been already approved in the 
budget there is no need to approve it again. Any Board member wishing to attend should contact 
Ms. Schambra by December 30 to complete their registration. 

No action taken. 

Item #18 - For Possible Action:  Approval of the date and hiring process for the General 

Manager position 

Mr. James announced that four candidates have been selected by the Administrative Committee 
to participate in interviews for the General Manager position:  Bunny Bishop, Nick Charles,  
Reed Cozens, and Stephanie McAfee.  The Board agreed the best date to schedule the interviews 
would be January 5, 2026.  The process for the interview was discussed and agreed upon. 

Committee Member Griffith made a motion to approve the date and 

hiring process for the General Manager position as presented.  The 

motion was seconded by Director Hales and it was unanimously 

approved by the Board. 

Item #19 For Discussion Only:  Staff Reports 

Ms. Hunt reported on the following: 

• Brenda Hunt provided updates on various projects, including the dissolution of the Friends 
of Hope Valley and the Watershed Survey.  She suggested CWSD recognize Friends of 
Hope Valley at the January Board meeting with a Proclamation.  The Watershed Survey 
results should be available by the February meeting. 

Legal – None 

Correspondence – None 

Item #20 - For Discussion Only: Directors & Committee Members Reports 

• Director Hales reported that the Douglas County Storm Water Utility is moving forward with 
construction starting in July 2026. 

Item #21 - For Discussion Only: Public Comment –  

Chairperson Schank, on behalf of the officers of CWSD wished everyone a Merry Christmas and a 
Happy New Year. 

 
There being no further business before the Board, Chairperson Schank adjourned the meeting at 
8:13 pm. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

Catrina Schambra 
Secretary to the Board 

Page 6 of 97



DRAFT 

1 1/5/2026 

 

 

CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

Board of Directors 

& Carson River Watershed Committee Meeting 

January 5, 2026 

SPECIAL MEETING 

Draft Minutes 

Chairperson Ernie Schank called the Carson Water Subconservancy District (CWSD) Board of 
Directors Meeting to order at 8:11 am in the Carson City Community Center, Sierra Room at  
851 E. William Street, Suite 209, Carson City, NV  89701. A roll call of the CWSD Board of 
Directors determined a quorum was present. 

CWSD Directors present: 

Stacey Giomi 

Sharla Hales 

Jim Hindle 

Doug Johnson 

Cassi Koerner 

Ernie Schank 

Lisa Schuette 

Lee Sterrett 

Fred Stodieck (Conference Call) 

Nathan Tolbert 

Mike Workman 

Directors Getto & Hendrix were absent.  The roll call included CWSD Committee Members 

present, David Griffith & Charlie Dobson. 

CWSD Staff & Guests present: 

Bunny Bishop, Applicant 

Nick Charles, Applicant 

Reed Cozens,  Applicant 

Brenda Hunt, CWSD 

Ed James, CWSD 

Steve King, CWSD Attorney 

Stephanie McAfee, Applicant 

Debbie Neddenriep, CWSD 

Catrina Schambra, CWSD  

Matthew Winterhawk, Public (Zoom) 

Director Giomi led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item #4 – Discussion Only:  Public Comment –  

Chairperson Schank introduced himself to the four applicants and stated the roll call would be done 
via Directors and Staff introducing themselves as well. 

Via Zoom, Matthew Winterhawk, Nevada Republican Gubernatorial Candidate introduced himself 
and stated he appreciated the CWSD open and transparent interview process.  He stated he had 
reviewed the candidate applications in the agenda package and would highly recommend Bunny 
Bishop for the General Manager position. 

Item #5 – For Possible Action:  Approval of Agenda 

Committee Member Griffith motioned to approve the Agenda for January 5, 

2026, as presented. Director Giomi seconded the motion and the Board 

unanimously approved. 

Item #6 – For Possible Action: Applicant Interviews & Selection of General Manager  

Director Hales stated in full disclosure for the record that she has a casual friendship with applicant 
Nick Charles. 

Page 7 of 97



DRAFT 

2 1/5/2026 

 

 

Chairperson Schank explained the process of the interview.  The applicants picked numbers for the 
order of questioning resulting in the following order: 

1) Bunny Bishop 

2) Nick Charles 

3) Reed Cozens 

4) Stephanie McAfee 

Each applicant was asked eleven predetermined questions by Chair Schank and Vice Chair Koerner. 
After each question was answered by all four applicants the next question started with the next 
applicant and so on, to allow them all to be first and last throughout the questioning period. 
Afterwards, each Board member was allowed to ask one follow-up question which each applicant 
answered, followed by closing statements. 

The Board conducted a poll to determine the top 2 choices of each Board member for the General 
Manager position. Director Stodieck did not vote. The results are below: 

 

The poll resulted in Reed Cozens as the top choice.  A meeting to negotiate an employment contract 
will be scheduled with Mr. Cozens this week.  Chairperson Schank thanked the other applicants  and 
congratulated Mr. Cozens. 

Director Giomi made a motion to authorize the Chair, the Vice Chair, and 

Mr. King to enter into contract negotiations with Mr. Reed, and if for any 

reason there was not an agreement on a contract, the position would then be 

offered to Mr. Charles, and to have the contract for the New General 

Manager ready for approval by the Board at the January 21, 2026, meeting. 

The motion was seconded by Director Johnson and unanimously approved 

by the Board. 

Item #21 - For Discussion Only: Public Comment – None 
 
There being no further business before the Board, Chairperson Schank adjourned the meeting at 
11:45 am. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

Catrina Schambra 
Secretary to the Board 

Dobson Giomi Griffith Hales Hindle Johnson Schank Schuette Sterrett Tolbert Koerner Workman

Bishop 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 2
Charles 1 2 1 1 2 2 2 1
Cozens 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2
McAfee

Page 8 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #7 

Page 9 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item #7 – For Discussion Only:  Presentation of the 2026 Andy Aldax 

Awards 

 

DISCUSSION:  CWSD will present the 2026 Andy Aldax Award to Terry Katzer and  
Fred Stodieck for their years of service in the Carson River Watershed. Attached are the 
nomination letters that highlight the activities and accomplishments that resulted in this 
honor.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 
 
 

Page 10 of 97



Nominated by Lisa Schuette, CWSD Board of Directors 

 
Terry Katzer has dedicated a large portion of his life to the Carson River and its watershed, 

significantly contributing to the scientific understanding of this vital resource. With a B.S. in 

Geology from the Mackay School of Mines at the University of Nevada, Reno, and further 

graduate studies in hydrogeology, Katzer's work has been instrumental in various water resource 

projects. His career at the U.S. Geological Survey included ground-water hydraulics and water-

resource evaluations of select valleys in Nevada. From 1981-1985 he served as State Office 

Chief. 

 

Katzer's role as the Assistant Federal Watermaster for the Truckee-Carson River System (1964-

1966) and Secretary-Manager for the Carson Water Sub-Conservancy District (1962-1964) 

showcased his dedication.  

 

His numerous publications, including detailed studies and maps of the Carson River underscore 

his significant contributions to the scientific understanding of the Carson River and its 

watershed. Katzer's lifelong commitment to the Carson River has left an enduring impact on the 

region's water resource management and scientific knowledge. 

 

Publications related to the Carson River: 

 

Katzer, T. L., 1980, General ground-water map of the Carson City Quadrangle, Nevada:  

 Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology, Environmental Series 7 1/2 Quadrangle Map 

 1AF. 

Katzer, Terry, 1986, Ground-water hydrology, Carson City Quadrangle, Nevada: Nevada 

Bureau of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 86-7 (supplements NBMG map 1AF),  

7 p. 

Glancy, P. A., and Katzer, T. L., 1975, Probable effects of the Leviathan Creek Basin 

 landslide, Alpine County, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report  

 75-75, 3 p. 

Katzer, Terry, and Bennett, J. P., 1983, Sediment transport model for the East Fork 

 of the Carson River, Carson Valley, Nevada: University of Kentucky, Lexington,

 Kentucky, International Symposium; Urban Hydrology, Hydraulics and Sediment 

 Control, Proceedings of Symposium, p. 421. 

Katzer, Terry, and Schroer, C. V., 1986, Flood and related debris flow hazards along 

 principal drainages, Carson City Quadrangle, Nevada: Nevada Bureau of Mines and 

 Geology Open File Report 86-8, 13 p. (Supplements NBMG Map 1A1) 

Glancy, P. A., and Katzer, T. L., 1975, Water-resources appraisal of the Carson River 

Basin, western Nevada: Nevada Division of Water Resources Reconnaissance Report 

59, 126 p. 

Katzer, T. L., 1971, Reconnaissance bathymetric map and general hydrology of 

 Lahontan Reservoir, Nevada: Nevada Division of Water Resources Information  

 Report 9.  

 

Page 11 of 97



October 23, 2025 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

It is our pleasure to nominate Fred Stodieck to be the recipient of the 2026 CWSD Andy 
Aldax Award for Exemplary Service in Conservation and Protection of the Carson River 
Watershed. 

Fred Stodieck has served 31 Years as an agricultural representative on the CWSD Board of 
Directors, appointed by Douglas County. He has served 17 years on the Douglas County 
Water Conveyance Advisory Committee and is a past President of the Nevada Farm 
Bureau. Fred is also a proud Veteran who served Army National Guard. 

Fred is a lifelong farmer from Carson Valley who operates Stodieck Farm on the East Fork of 
the Carson River with the help of his wife, daughters, and grandsons. Stodieck Farm has 
been in his family since his great-grandfather bought it in 1868 for $2,600 in gold coins. 
Mentored by his father, Cecil (who was also Federal Water Master for the Carson River), and 
uncles, Elven and William, Fred learned animal husbandry, equipment management, ditch 
maintenance, water law, and many other ranching skills. Fred has also worked as a road 
surveyor and in construction, and all these practical skills have helped him remain 
successful in growing alfalfa and the difficult task of cattle ranching. 

Fred’s lifetime of experience in the Carson Valley and his knowledge of all areas of concern 
in the Carson River Watershed has been a historical treasure to the Carson Water 
Subconservancy District Board of Directors. He exemplifies the spirit of Andy Aldax and is 
richly deserving of this honor. 

 

Ernest C. Schank 
Doug Johnson 
Stacey Giomi 

Page 12 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #8 

TREASURER’S REPORT 

Page 13 of 97



Page 14 of 97



Page 15 of 97



Page 16 of 97



Page 17 of 97



Page 18 of 97



Page 19 of 97



Page 20 of 97



Page 21 of 97



Page 22 of 97



Page 23 of 97



Page 24 of 97



Page 25 of 97



Page 26 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #9 

PAYMENT OF BILLS 

Page 27 of 97



Page 28 of 97



Page 29 of 97



Page 30 of 97



Page 31 of 97



Page 32 of 97



CWSD Petty Cash Transaction Record

December 2025 

Date G/L No. Description Debits Credits Balance

Starting Balance $100.00

11/22/25 7104-00 Ed James $9.85 $90.15

Postage GM Apps to Myle Getto (Admin Comm)

 

12/6/25 7103-00 Debbie Neddenriep $3.04 $93.19

Office Supplies 20 x .11 +=2.20 + 14 x .06= .84 = $3.04 Copies

12/8/25 7107-00 Ed James $15.35 $77.84

Meals Admin Comm Meeting refreshments 12/8/25

12/22/25 7107-00 Ed James $30.88 $108.72

Meals Christmas Dinner Guest Meal

12/23/25 7107-00 Brenda Hunt $30.88 $139.60

Meals Christmas Dinner Guest Meal

12/23/25 7103-00 Brenda Hunt $4.95 $144.55

Office Supplies 45 x .11 = $ 4.95 Color Copies

12/23/25 7102-00 Lindsay Marsh $5.90 $138.65

Office Supplies Paper Towels & Tissues

12/23/25 Petty Cash Replenishment /Balance $138.65

Prepared by:  _____________________________

Approved by:  _____________________________

Date:  12/23/25

Page 33 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #10

Page 34 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #10 – For Possible Action:  Approval of Contract #2026-1 with 
Kimley-Horn for Regen Ag Engineering, not to exceed $50,000 

  

DISCUSSION:   

Task 1 associated with the Rambling River Ranches, Inc. Carson River Watershed Water 
Quality, Soil Health and Regenerative Agricultural Best Management Practices Project 
requires an engineering contractor to plan, design and permit improvements on two 
irrigation return outfalls.  Kimley-Horn was selected as the contractor for this project.  
Contract #2026-1 with Kimley-Horn for Regen Ag Engineering, not to exceed $50,000 is 
attached.  

 

The cost will be fully reimbursed to CWSD as part of the Clean Water Act Section 319(h) 
grant from Nevada Division of Environmental Protection contract for the above project.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Contract #2026-1 with Kimley-Horn for Regen Ag 
Engineering, not to exceed $50,000 as presented. 

 

 

Page 35 of 97



 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

Agreement 

Carson Water Subconservancy District (hereinafter “CWSD”) and Kimley-Horn (hereinafter “KH”) 
hereby enter into an agreement whereby KH will complete the Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16 
(hereinafter “Project”) in accordance with and subject to the following terms and conditions: 

1) ASSIGNMENT

KH’s assignment shall relate to the following product(s) or service(s): 

Complete Project, which is further identified and described in Exhibit A.  The compensation paid 
to KH for the Project shall not exceed $50,000. 

2) INDEMNITIES

(a) To the fullest extent permitted by law KH shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend, not
excluding the CWSD's right to participate, the CWSD from and against all liability, claims,
actions, damages, losses, and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys'
fees and costs, arising out of any alleged negligent or willful acts or omissions of KH, its
officers, employees and agents.

(b) CWSD will indemnify and hold KH harmless with respect to any claims or actions instituted by
third parties which result from the use by KH of material furnished by CWSD or where
material created by KH is substantially changed by CWSD. Information or data obtained by
KH from CWSD to substantiate claims made in advertising shall be deemed to be "materials
furnished by CWSD."

(c) In the event of any proceeding against CWSD by any regulatory agency or in the event of any
court action or self-regulatory action challenging any advertising prepared by KH, KH shall
assist in the preparation of the defense of such action or proceeding and cooperate with
CWSD and CWSD’s attorneys. CWSD will reimburse KH any out-of-pocket costs KH may incur
in connection with any such action or proceeding.

(d) Neither party waives any right or defense to indemnification that may exist in law or equity.

(e) Indemnity for losses related to professional liability. The KH agrees, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless CWSD, its officers, directors, and
employees against all damages, liabilities, or cost, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
fees and defense costs, to the extent caused by the KH’s negligent performance of
professional services under this Agreement and that of its subcontractors or anyone whom
the KH is legally liable.

3) INSURANCE

Unless otherwise required in this Agreement, KH shall, during the performance of the services 
as provided herein, maintain insurance of the types and amounts specified, and with insurers 
satisfactory to the other party as follows: 

a) Comprehensive General Liability including $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and
property damage; $1,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate; $2,000,000
General Aggregate over all interests.

b) Comprehensive Automobile Liability including coverage for owned, non-owned, and hired
vehicles: $1,000,000 Bodily Injury, $1,000,000 Property Damage.

Page 1 of 12
Page 36 of 97



 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

c) KH shall name CWSD as an additional insured and deliver a certificate to CWSD.

4) TERM OF AGREEMENT

a) The term of this Agreement will commence on the date of the last signature executed hereon 
and unless earlier terminated as provided below, will continue in full force and effect until 
February 28, 2027, unless extended by written agreement of the parties.

b) KH will submit monthly invoices with a description of activities performed.

c) In the event of termination of this Agreement, the rights, duties, and responsibilities of KH 
shall continue in full force during the period of notice.

d) If circumstances arise that require a time extension to complete the project, the CWSD 
Board grants the General Manager authority to do so in a written notice to KH.

5) PERFORMANCE

Should KH fail to perform any of the services provided for in Exhibit A, CWSD shall notify KH of 
such non-performance and allow thirty (30) days for KH to remedy the performance. If the 
performance has not been satisfied within thirty days, CWSD may withhold payment only for 
the services not performed in accordance with this Agreement. 

6) SUPPLEMENTS TO AGREEMENT

The following Exhibits are an integral part of this Agreement: 

(a) Exhibit A - KH Business Technical Plan

7) INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

KH acknowledges that it is furnishing the services contemplated by this Agreement hereto as an 
independent contractor, and not as an employee, or agent of CWSD or any of its affiliates. 

As an Independent Contractor under Federal Award funding see CFR Part 200 Appendix II below: 

Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Appendix II to Part 200, Title 2 (January 14, 2026) — 

Contract Provisions for Non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards 

In addition to other provisions required by the Federal agency or non-Federal entity, all contracts made 
by the non- Federal entity under the Federal award must contain provisions covering the following, as 
applicable. 

(A) Contracts for more than the simplified acquisition threshold, which is the inflation adjusted
amount determined by the Civilian Agency Acquisition Council and the Defense Acquisition
Regulations Council (Councils) as authorized by 41 U.S.C. 1908, must address administrative,
contractual, or legal remedies in instances where contractors violate or breach contract
terms, and provide for such sanctions and penalties as appropriate.

(B) All contracts in excess of $10,000 must address termination for cause and for convenience by
the non- Federal entity including the manner by which it will be effected and the basis for
settlement.

(C) Equal Employment Opportunity. Except as otherwise provided under 41 CFR Part 60, all
contracts that meet the definition of “federally assisted construction contract” in 41 CFR Part
60–1.3 must include the equal opportunity clause provided under 41 CFR 60–1.4(b), in
accordance with Executive Order 11246, “Equal Employment Opportunity” (30 FR 12319,

Page 2 of 12
Page 37 of 97

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chapter-II/part-200/appendix-Appendix%20II%20to%20Part%20200
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/41/1908
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-41/part-60/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-41/section-60-1.3/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-41/section-60-1.3/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-41/section-60-1.4/?&p-60-1.4(b)
https://www.federalregister.gov/citation/30-FR-12319
https://www.federalregister.gov/citation/30-FR-12935


 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

12935, 3 CFR Part, 1964–1965 Comp., p. 339), as amended by Executive Order 11375, 
“Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and 
implementing regulations at 41 CFR part 60, “Office of Federal Contract Compliance 
Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor.” 

(D) Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 3141–3148). When required by Federal program
legislation, all prime construction contracts in excess of $2,000 awarded by non-Federal
entities must include a provision for compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 3141–
3144, and 3146–3148) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5,
“Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed and
Assisted Construction”). In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay
wages to laborers and mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a
wage determination made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be
required to pay wages not less than once a week. The non-Federal entity must place a copy
of the current prevailing wage determination issued by the Department of Labor in each
solicitation. The decision to award a contract or subcontract must be conditioned upon the
acceptance of the wage determination. The non-Federal entity must report all suspected or
reported violations to the Federal awarding agency. The contracts must also include a
provision for compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act (40 U.S.C. 3145), as
supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 3, “Contractors and
Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work Financed in Whole or in Part by Loans or
Grants from the United States”). The Act provides that each contractor or subrecipient must
be prohibited from inducing, by any means, any person employed in the construction,
completion, or repair of public work, to give up any part of the compensation to which he or
she is otherwise entitled. The non- Federal entity must report all suspected or reported
violations to the Federal awarding agency.

(E) Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 3701–3708). Where applicable, all
contracts awarded by the non-Federal entity in excess of $100,000 that involve the
employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C.
3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 5). Under
40 U.S.C. 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of every
mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of
the standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of
not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40
hours in the work week. The requirements of 40 U.S.C. 3704 are applicable to construction
work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or
under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements
do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the
open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence.

(F) Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement. If the Federal award meets the
definition of “funding agreement” under 37 CFR § 401.2 (a) and the recipient or subrecipient
wishes to enter into a contract with a small business firm or nonprofit organization regarding
the substitution of parties, assignment or performance of experimental, developmental, or
research work under that “funding agreement,” the recipient or subrecipient must comply
with the requirements of 37 CFR Part 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit
Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and

Page 3 of 12
Page 38 of 97

https://www.federalregister.gov/citation/30-FR-12935
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-3/part-1964/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-41/part-60/
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3141
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3141
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3141
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3146
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-29/part-5/
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3145
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-29/part-3/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-29/part-3/
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3701
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3702
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3702
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3704
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-29/part-5/
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3702
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3702
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/40/3704
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-37/section-401.2/?&p-401.2(a)
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-37/part-401/


 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

Cooperative Agreements,” and any implementing regulations issued by the awarding agency. 

(G) Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401–7671q.) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C.
1251–1387), as amended—Contracts and subgrants of amounts in excess of $150,000 must
contain a provision that requires the non-Federal award to agree to comply with all applicable
standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401–7671q)
and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251–1387). Violations
must be reported to the Federal awarding agency and the Regional Office of the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA).

(H) Debarment and Suspension (Executive Orders 12549 and 12689)—A contract award (see 2 CFR
180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the governmentwide exclusions in the System
for Award Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 CFR 180 that
implement Executive Orders 12549 (3 CFR part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 CFR part 1989
Comp., p. 235), “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties
debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible
under statutory or regulatory authority other than Executive Order 12549.

(I) Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment (31 U.S.C. 1352)—Contractors that apply or bid for an award
exceeding $100,000 must file the required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above
that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization
for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of
Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in
connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31
U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place
in connection with obtaining any Federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to
tier up to the non-Federal award.

(J) Procurement of recovered materials - A non-Federal entity that is a state agency or agency of
a political subdivision of a state and its contractors must comply with section 6002 of the Solid
Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The
requirements of Section 6002 include procuring only items designated in guidelines of the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) at 40 CFR part 247 that contain the highest
percentage of recovered materials practicable, consistent with maintaining a satisfactory
level of competition, where the purchase price of the item exceeds $10,000 or the value of
the quantity acquired during the preceding fiscal year exceeded $10,000; procuring solid
waste management services in a manner that maximizes energy and resource recovery; and
establishing an affirmative procurement program for procurement of recovered materials
identified in the EPA guidelines.

(K) Prohibition on certain telecommunications and video surveillance services or equipment.

(a) Recipients and subrecipients are prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant
funds to:

(1) Procure or obtain;

(2) Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain; or

(3) Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment,
services, or systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or services as a
substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any

Page 4 of 12
Page 39 of 97

https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/42/7401
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/33/1251
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/33/1251
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/42/7401
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/33/1251
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-2/section-180.220/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-2/section-180.220/
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-2/part-180/
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/uscode/31/1352
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-40/part-247


 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

system. As described in Public Law 115–232, section 889, covered telecommunications 
equipment is telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies 
Company or ZTE Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities).  

(i) For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical security
surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security purposes, video
surveillance and telecommunications equipment produced by Hytera
Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or
Dahua Technology Company (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities).

(ii) Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or using
such equipment.

(iii) Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or
provided by an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the Director
of the National Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,
reasonably believes to be an entity owned or controlled by, or otherwise connected
to, the government of a covered foreign country.

(b) In implementing the prohibition under Public Law 115–232, section 889, subsection (f),
paragraph (1), heads of executive agencies administering loan, grant, or subsidy programs
shall prioritize available funding and technical support to assist affected businesses,
institutions and organizations as is reasonably necessary for those affected entities to
transition from covered communications equipment and services, to procure replacement
equipment and services, and to ensure that communications service to users and customers
is sustained.

(c) See Public Law 115–232, section 889 for additional information.

(d) See also § 200.471.

(L) Domestic preferences for procurements –

(a) As appropriate and to the extent consistent with law, the non-Federal entity should, to the
greatest extent practicable under a Federal award, provide a preference for the purchase,
acquisition, or use of goods, products, or materials produced in the United States (including
but not limited to iron, aluminum, steel, cement, and other manufactured products). The
requirements of this section must be included in all subawards including all contracts and
purchase orders for work or products under this award.

(b)  For purposes of this section:

(1) “Produced in the United States” means, for iron and steel products, that all
manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage through the application of
coatings, occurred in the United States.

(2) “Manufactured products” means items and construction materials composed in whole
or in part of non-ferrous metals such as aluminum; plastics and polymer-based products
such as polyvinyl chloride pipe; aggregates such as concrete; glass, including optical
fiber; and lumber.

8) OWNERSHIP

Page 5 of 12
Page 40 of 97

https://www.govinfo.gov/link/plaw/115/public/232
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/plaw/115/public/232
https://www.govinfo.gov/link/plaw/115/public/232
https://www.ecfr.gov/on/2023-08-01/title-2/section-200.471


 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

Any reports, histories, studies, tests, manuals, instructions, photographs, negatives, blue prints, 
plans, maps, data, system designs, computer code (which are intended to be considered under 
this Agreement), or any other documents or drawings, prepared, or in the course of preparation, 
by KH (or its subcontractors) in performance of its obligations under this Agreement shall be the 
exclusive property of CWSD and all such materials shall be delivered into CWSD’s possession by 
KH upon completion, termination, or cancellation of this Agreement. KH shall not use, willingly 
allow, or cause to have such materials used for any purpose other than performance of KH's 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of CWSD. CWSD shall 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless KH for any reuse of work documents on other projects 
without written permission of KH. 

9) AGREEMENT TERMINATION

(a) Termination Without Cause. This Agreement may be terminated upon written notice by
mutual consent of both parties and unilaterally by either party without cause. The parties
acknowledge and agree that in the event Federal funding to CWSD for this agreement is
eliminated or suspended or otherwise delayed, then in said event, this agreement shall
automatically be terminated.

(b) Cause Termination for Default or Breach. A default or breach may be declared with or without
termination. This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon written notice of
default or breach to the other party as follows:

(1) If KH fails to provide or satisfactorily perform any of the conditions, work, deliverables,
goods, or services called for by this Agreement within the time requirements specified in
this Agreement or within any granted extension of those time requirements; or

(2) If any State, county, city, or federal license, authorization, waiver, permit, qualification or
certification required by statute, ordinance, law, or regulation to be held by KH to provide
the goods or services required by this Agreement is for any reason denied, revoked,
debarred, excluded, terminated, suspended, lapsed, or not renewed; or

(3) If KH becomes insolvent, subject to receivership, or becomes voluntarily or involuntarily
subject to the jurisdiction of the bankruptcy court; or

(4) If CWSD materially breaches any material duty under this Agreement and any such breach
impairs KH's ability to perform.

(c) Time to Correct. Termination upon declared default or breach may be exercised only after
service of formal written notice and the subsequent failure of the defaulting party within
thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of that notice to provide evidence, satisfactory to the
aggrieved party, showing that the declared default or breach has been corrected.

(d) Winding Up Affairs Upon Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement for any
reason, the parties agree that the provisions of this Section survive termination:

(1) The parties shall account for and properly present to each other all claims for fees and
expenses and pay those which are undisputed and otherwise not subject to set off under
this Agreement. Neither party may withhold performance of winding up provisions solely
based on nonpayment of fees or expenses accrued up to the time of termination;

(2) KH shall satisfactorily complete work in progress at the agreed rate (or a pro rata basis if
necessary) if so requested by the CWSD;

Page 6 of 12
Page 41 of 97



 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

(3) KH shall execute any documents and take any actions necessary to effectuate an
assignment of this Agreement if so requested by the CWSD; and

(4) KH shall preserve, protect, and promptly deliver into CWSD possession all information in
accordance with Section 8, Ownership.

10) RIGHTS UPON TERMINATION

Upon termination of this Agreement, KH shall transfer, assign and make available to CWSD or 
CWSD’s representative, all property and materials in their possession or control belonging to 
and paid for by CWSD, subject, however, to any rights of third parties of which KH has informed 
CWSD. 

11) BREACH REMEDIES.

Failure of either party to perform any obligation of this Agreement shall be deemed a breach. 
Except as otherwise provided for by law or this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the 
parties shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by 
law or equity, including but not limited to actual damages. 

The parties acknowledge or agree that the contract was written and agreed to by both parties. 

Prior to the initiation of any litigation the parties agree to mediate. 

12) PUBLIC RECORDS

Pursuant to NRS 239.010, information or documents received from KH may be open to public 
inspection and copying. CWSD has a legal obligation to disclose such information unless a 
particular record is made confidential by law. KH may label specific parts of an individual 
document as a "trade secret" or "confidential" in accordance with NRS 333.333, provided that 
KH thereby agrees to indemnify and defend CWSD for honoring such a designation. The failure 
to so label any document that is released by CWSD shall constitute a complete waiver of any 
and all claims for damages caused by any release of the records. 

13) NOTICES

Any notice pursuant to this Agreement will be addressed to the following parties: 

Edwin James Shaker Gorla 
Carson Watershed Subconservancy District Kimley-Horn 
777 E William Street, Suite 209 7900 Rancharrah Pkwy, Suite 100 
Carson City, NV 89701 Reno, NV 89511 

14) FORCE MAJEURE

Neither party shall be held responsible for any delay or failure in performance of any part of 
this Agreement to the extent such delay or failure is caused by fire, flood, explosion, war, 
embargo, government requirement, civil or military authority, act of God, pandemic, or other 
similar causes beyond its control and without the fault or negligence of the delayed or non-
performing party. The affected party will notify the other party in writing within ten (10) days 
after the beginning of any such cause that would affect its performance. Notwithstanding, if a 
party's performance is delayed for a period exceeding thirty (30) days from the date the other 
party receives notice under this paragraph, the non-affected party will have the right, without 
any liability to the other party, to terminate this agreement. 

Page 7 of 12
Page 42 of 97



 CWSD KH Agreement #2026-1 

KH Agreement #2026-1 Regen Ag Engineering #2025-16  

15) HEADINGS

Headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and are not intended to be used 
in interpreting or construing the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement. 

16) ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement constitutes the whole agreement between the parties with respect to 
the subject matter contained herein, and there are no terms other than those 
contained herein. No modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be valid 
unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto. 

17) SEVERABILITY

Each provision of this Agreement shall be considered separable and if for any reason any 
provision or provisions herein are determined to be invalid, unenforceable, or illegal under any 
existing or future law, such invalidity, unenforceability or illegality shall not impair the 
operation of or affect those portions of this Letter that are valid, enforceable and legal. 

18) GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Nevada 
pertaining to contracts made and performed entirely therein and jurisdiction for any dispute 
between the parties shall be held in Nevada court of competent jurisdiction. 

If the above accords with the parties’ understanding and agreement, kindly indicate consent hereto by 
signing in the place provided below. 

Accepted and Agreed on behalf of: Accepted and Agreed on behalf of: 
Carson Water Subconservancy District Kimley-Horn 

_____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Signature Date Signature Date 
Edwin D. James Heath Hildebrandt 
General Manager Associate 

Page 8 of 12



kimley-horn.com 7900 Rancharrah Pkwy, Suite 100, Reno, NV 89511 775.7827.7552 

CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

DESIGN, ENGINEERING, PLANNING, PLANS & PERMITS 

FOR WATER QUALITY IMPROVEMENTS TO IRRIGATION OUTFALLS 

ON CARSON RIVER IN CHURCHILL COUNTY 

Business/Technical Plan of Work 

Project Understanding 

The Carson Water Subconservancy District (CWSD) has grant funds available to improve at 

least two failed and deteriorated irrigation outfalls on a private ranch along the Carson River 

in Fallon, Nevada. The intent of the CWSD is to replace the failed outfalls with new, creative, 

environmentally considerate, engineered irrigation outfalls to prevent excess erosion and 

scouring at the outlets and to withstand potential high water during seasonal runoff, with the 

goal of improving irrigation return water quality. The CSWD is engaging Kimley-Horn and 

Associates, Inc. (Kimley-Horn) to provide comprehensive planning, design, permitting, and 

construction coordination services for improvements to irrigation outfalls that discharge to the 

Carson River. 

The scope of work for the study/plan would incorporate the following tasks: 

Task 1. Project Management 

 Project management includes active participation in six Technical Advisory Committee

(TAC) meetings, which include one office meeting and up to five onsite meetings,

during which conceptual, 60% (pre-permit), and 100% design plans are

presented.  The TAC is expected to include CWSD, the Nevada Division of

Environmental Protection (NDEP), the ranch owners, and other stakeholders.

 The project management task also includes efforts for preparing monthly project

progress reports, invoicing, contract management, conducting internal staff meetings,

and conducting Quality Control/Quality Assurance reviews by senior staff.

Task 2. Site Assessment, and Concept Development 

 Evaluate existing irrigation outfalls with significant vertical drops and active erosion.

 Identify and prioritize two (2) outfalls for design and construction, based on

field conditions and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) guidance.

 Develop conceptual alternatives that incorporate environmentally sensitive, durable,

and hydraulically appropriate solutions.

Exhibit A

Page 9 of 12

Page 44 of 97



Page 2 

kimley-horn.com 7900 Rancharrah Pkwy, Suite 100, Reno, NV 89511 775.787.7552 

 Ensure all concepts align with the United States Environmental Protection Agency

(USEPA) and the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Best Management

Practices (BMPs).

Task 3. Permitting and Regulatory Compliance 

 Prepare required permit applications and supporting documentation for the project.

 Coordinate with CWSD and ranch representatives for review of permit materials prior

to submittal.

 Address various agency comments (CWSD, NDEP and the permitting agencies) and

submit complete application package for permit approvals before construction begins.

Task 4. Final Design and Construction Specifications 

 Develop 60% and 100% design plans, using the design guidelines from the USEPA

and the NRCS Best Management Practices (BMPs), including:

o Grading, stabilization, and structural details.
o Hydrologic and hydraulic considerations.
o Material specifications and construction sequencing.

 Prepare construction specifications that account for the use of ranch-owned

equipment and labor.

 Review constructability and implementation feasibility with the TAC to ensure clarity

and alignment with available resources.

 Obtain the approvals from CWSD and NDEP on the 60% and 100% design plans.

Task 5. Construction Coordination and Post-Construction Verification 

 Provide technical support during construction, including clarifications and field

adjustments as needed to address reasonable incongruence of existing conditions.

 Conduct post-construction inspection with the TAC to verify that improvements match

the approved final design.

 Document any field changes, including photographs and written descriptions.

 Submit final as-built documentation to CWSD and NDEP.

Page 10 of 12

Page 45 of 97



Page 3 

kimley-horn.com 7900 Rancharrah Pkwy, Suite 100, Reno, NV 89511 775.787.7552 

KIMLEY-HORN ALLOWANCES 

 Expenses anticipated for this project include telecommunications, in-house

production, printing, travel expenses, mileage, postage, supplies and project related

computer time. These expenses are lumped into the tasks’ budget.

OTHER EXCLUSIONS 

 Geotechnical and Environmental services

 Topographic & Aerial mapping services

Kimley-Horn will perform the services in Tasks 1 - 5 for the total lump sum labor fee below. 

Task 1   Project Management  $13,650 

Task 2   Site Assessment, and Concept Development $7,900 

Task 3   Permitting and Regulatory Compliance $10,500 

Task 4   Final Design and Construction Specifications $12,710 

Task 5   Construction Coordination and  

  Post-Construction Verification $5,240 

Total Lump Sum Fee $50,000 

Page11 of 12

Page 46 of 97



F
e

b
ru

a
ry

N
o

ti
ce

 t
o

 P
ro

ce
e

d
 (

N
T

P
)

1
/2

2

T
a

sk
 1

. 
P

ro
je

ct
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

T
a

sk
 2

. 
S

it
e

 A
ss

e
ss

m
e

n
t,

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

ce
p

t 
D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t
3

/3
0

T
a

sk
 3

. 
P

e
rm

it
ti

n
g

 a
n

d
 R

e
g

u
la

to
ry

 C
o

m
p

li
a

n
ce

*
1

1
/3

0

T
a

sk
 4

. 
F

in
a

l 
D

e
si

g
n

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 S

p
e

ci
fi

ca
ti

o
n

s
5

/3
0

T
a

sk
 5

. 
C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 C

o
o

rd
in

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

o
st

-C
o

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 V
e

ri
fi

ca
ti

o
n

2
/2

8

N
O

T
E

S
:

P
e

rm
it

ti
n

g
 t

im
e

li
n

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 U

S
A

C
E

 a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
re

g
u

la
to

ry
 a

g
e

n
ci

e
s 

is
 u

n
p

re
d

ic
ta

b
le

. 
F

o
r 

sc
h

e
d

u
li

n
g

 p
u

rp
o

se
s 

K
im

le
y

-H
o

rn
 a

ss
u

m
e

s 
6

 m
o

n
th

s 
a

n
d

 i
t 

co
u

ld
 v

a
ry

 r
e

su
lt

in
g

 i
n

 e
x

te
n

si
o

n
 o

f 
p

ro
je

ct
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 t

im
e

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

R
R

R
-W

Q
-O

U
T

F
A

LL
S

  -
 P

R
O

JE
C

T
 S

C
H

E
D

U
LE 2

0
2

6
2

0
2

7

A
u

g
u

st
S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r
O

ct
o

b
e

r
N

o
v

e
m

b
e

r
D

e
ce

m
b

e
r

Ja
n

u
a

ry
Ja

n
u

a
ry

Ju
ly

M
a

rc
h

A
p

ri
l

M
a

y
Ju

n
e

Page 4

Page 12 of 12

Page 47 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #11

Page 48 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #11 – For Possible Action:  Approval of the 2025 Activities & 
Accomplishments Annual Report 

  

DISCUSSION:  Attached is a draft of the 2025 Activities & Accomplishments Annual 
Report. Once the Board has reviewed and approved it for publication, it will be distributed 
to counties.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve the 2025 Activities & Accomplishments Annual 
Report for distribution to counties. 

Page 49 of 97



 Carson Water 
Subconservancy District 

 
Carson Water Subconservancy District (CWSD) strives to balance the municipal, agricultural, and 
environmental water needs of our watershed. We work with our watershed partners using an 
integrated watershed planning process to reach our goals of a sustainable, healthy watershed.   
To achieve this balance, CWSD integrates planning, coordinaƟng, and management acƟviƟes to 
support projects associated with floodplain management, river projects, water quality, water 
supply, invasive species, outreach and educaƟon, and recreaƟon.  

2025 AcƟviƟes & Accomplishments are summarized as follows: 

Grant AdministraƟon. ............................................................................................. 2 

Carson River CoaliƟon Watershed CoordinaƟon Program. ..................................... 3 

Water Supply……………………………………………………………………………………………………….3 

Water Quality. ......................................................................................................... 4 

Floodplain Management. ..................................................................................... 4-5 

Invasive Species. ...................................................................................................... 5 

River RehabilitaƟon & StabilizaƟon. ........................................................................ 6 

Outreach & EducaƟon. ......................................................................................... 6-7 

RecreaƟon. .............................................................................................................. 7 

Looking ahead to 2026... ...................................................................................... 7-8 

Our Vision 
A healthy watershed  

that meets the water needs of all users. 

Our Mission 
To promote cooperative action with communities to  

protect the Carson River Watershed. 

Carson Water Subconservancy District  
2025 AcƟviƟes & Accomplishments  

Page 50 of 97



  

Page 2 Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments  
any District 2015 Activities & Accomplishments 

Grant AdministraƟon 

 

CWSD leveraged Local funding 
4:1 with Federal dollars. In FY 
2025 staff administered grant 

implementaƟon of the 
following regional projects 

totaling $997,412. 

Grantor 
CWSD Match 
ContribuƟon 

Federal 
Grant Funds 

Total Grant 
Funds Task  

Nevada Division of Envi-
ronmental ProtecƟon 
(NDEP) 

$20,516 $25,138 $45,654 
Quality Assurance Planning - 
Nonpoint Source (NPS) 319
(h) 

Nevada Division of Envi-
ronmental ProtecƟon 
(NDEP) 

$92,065 $150,016 $242,081 
Regen Ag WQ - Nonpoint 
Source (NPS) 319(h) 

Nevada Department of 
ConservaƟon & Natural 
Resources (DCNR) Divi-
sion of State Parks 

$43,915 $136,194 $180,109 
Growing the Carson River 
AquaƟc Trail Improvements 
Grant (Mexican Dam) 

Nevada Division of 
Emergency Management 
(NDEM) 

$11,489 $40,839 $52,328 North Dayton BAC Study 

Nevada Division of 
Emergency Management 
(NDEM) 

$9,500 $51,104 $60,604 
30-Year Regional Drought 
Plan 

Federal Emergency Man-
agement Agency (FEMA) 

$5,000 $411,636 $416,636 
Community Outreach & MiƟ-
gaƟon Strategy (COMS), 
Round 2 

TOTALS: $182,485  $814,927  $997,412    

Page 51 of 97



Some presentations available here.   
Page 3 

Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments  
any District 2015 Activities & Accomplishments 

Carson River Coalition  
Watershed Coordination Program 

The Watershed Program coordinates the CRC efforts relaƟng to river rehabilitaƟon, water quality, 
floodplain management, invasive species, recreaƟon, and environmental educaƟon and outreach outlined 
throughout this document. Some 2025 Accomplishments:  

■ Managed grants for Clean Water Act SecƟon 319, and the Nevada State Parks RecreaƟonal Trails 
Program (RTP).  

■ Organized quarterly CRC Working Group meeƟngs for Outreach & EducaƟon, Floodplain Management, 
and Agricultural Producers. 

■ Brenda Hunt, Watershed Program Manager aƩended Integra ng Natural Hazard Mi ga on and Clean 

Water Act Planning and Project Implementa on Workshop hosted by the ASFM, NAWM, and USEPA in 

Denver, Colorado.  Staff conƟnues to work with partners to implement nature-based soluƟons 

throughout the Carson River Watershed.  

■ ConƟnued to use our I Am Carson River Watershed campaign assets (PSAs) throughout the year 

focusing on TV and radio using a combinaƟon of purchased and free airƟme.  

■ Worked with Responsive Management to revise and conduct a follow-up survey of watershed residents 

to compare against our 2015 baseline survey. Results will be analyzed and available in Winter 2026.  

AcƟviƟes conducted by CWSD in 2025 to facilitate a reliable water supply include: 
■ Funded 10 United States Geological Survey (USGS) Streamflow Gages on the Carson River. 

■ Funded USGS Water Level Data CollecƟon throughout the watershed. 

■ Funded Churchill County Water Data CollecƟon in Dixie Valley and Carson Desert GW Basin. 

■ Staff created an advisory report of water and sewer rates of the 13 major water purveyors in the Carson River 
Watershed.  

■ Staff reviewed and corrected State Engineers Groundwater Pumping Reports and Federal Water Diversion Records. 
(Ongoing)  

■ Created and presented the 30-year Regional Drought and Water Sustainability Plan for the Carson River Watershed. 
This plan was approved by the CWSD Board and will be presented to the water purveyors and stakeholders in 2026. 
Preliminary data from the USGS Upper and Middle Carson Models are uƟlized in this report. CWSD staff helped 
refine and address modeling errors to address in the official publishing of the USGS findings. These are esƟmated to 
be published at the end of 2026. 

■ Reported on and maintained Lost Lake operaƟons. 

■ Ed James and Lindsay Budija parƟcipated in the NWRA Annual Conference and other NWRA events throughout 2025. 

■ Lindsay Budjia was reelected to the NWRA Board of Trustees and Co-chaired the Northern Nevada Fall Symposium in 
Reno, Nevada. The Fall Symposium highlighted many of the projects happening in the Carson River Watershed. One 
of her main duƟes has been to plan and coordinate speakers for the January 2026 Conference. 

Page 3 

Water Supply 

Page 52 of 97



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4 
4 

Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments  

Water Quality  
AcƟviƟes conducted by CWSD in 2025 to facilitate effecƟve water quality management : 
■  CWSD was awarded two USEPA/Nevada Division of Environmental Protection Clean Water Act Section 319(h) grants: 

 Water Quality Planning Grant to complete a Quality Assurance Project Plan to allow WQ sampling and monitoring at 
specific sites along the Carson River with the hopes of identifying sources of water quality impairments to help with future 
planning and mitigation efforts. 

 Agricultural Soil Health and Water Quality Best Management Practices Grant to implement return irrigation flow 
improvements, cover cropping, invasive species, virtual fencing and grazing management practices that improve water 
quality and soil health in the Silver Springs and Fallon areas. 

■ Worked with Alpine Watershed Group (AWG) and other partners on the geomorphology and sediment transport study and prioritization 
projects for the West and East Forks of the Carson River in Alpine County funded through Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control 
Board, US EPA Clean Water Act Section 319(h) grants.  

■  Staff continues to be involved with partners working on  planning and management of the two superfund sites in the Carson River 
Watershed. 

■ Staff continues to assist Carson City on the update of the Carson River Master Plan. 

■ Worked with US Forest Service, Alpine Watershed Group and multiple other partners to finalize Carson Hot Springs Management 
Planning on the East Fork Carson.  

AcƟviƟes conducted by CWSD in 2025 to facilitate effecƟve floodplain management: 

■ Debbie Neddenriep represented CWSD on the Board of the Floodplain Management Association (FMA) and as Co-
Chair of Arid Regions for the Association of State Floodplain Managers (ASFPM).  She initiated quarterly luncheons in 
Northern Nevada to reconnect floodplain management community post-Covid. Luncheon participants average about 25 
attendees.  

■ Staff facilitated CRC Floodplain Management Working Group meetings.  

■ The Flood Hazard Viewer was updated in 2025 to include area drainage master plans completed by September 2025. 
This allows county staff and residents to view flood hazard maps that are not in regulatory flood maps.  

■  FEMA COMS1 funded floodplain and hazard mitigation projects concluded in late 2025. The projects included the 
Stagecoach Area Drainage Master Plan; Silver Springs Area Drainage Master Plan; Outreach and High-Water Mark 
Installation; Fish Springs/Pinenut Creek Culvert Study; and Flood Risk Analysis for Walker River. The period of 
performance included project outreach to community residents, and demonstrations of the floodplain model at community 
events and schools. Through this effort, 411 adults and 3,017 school children learned about flood risk and safety 
preparedness. The 2025 Carson River Watershed Floodplain Management Plan (CRFPM) was also updated as part of 
COMS1. Staff presented the plan to most watershed planning commissions and to each county board for adoption. All six 
county boards in the watershed adopted the CRFMP. CWSD also used these CRFMP presentations to support  

(continued on page 5) 

Floodplain Management  

Page 53 of 97



Page 5 Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments 

Activities conducted by CWSD in 2025 to facilitate effective invasive species management: 
■ Distributed $90,000 to CWMAs (Cooperative Weed Management Areas), Conservation Districts and Counties.

■ Staff attended field trip to agricultural producer properties as part of the 2025 North American Invasive Species
Management Association Conference.

■ Coordinated with Cooperative Weed Management Areas to support invasive species management throughout the
watershed.

Invasive Species 

(continued from page 4) 

Douglas County Stormwater Master Plan and its efforts to  
permanently fund this department.  

■ Staff participated in Douglas County and Carson City Hazard
|Mitigation Plan updates.

■ Staff participated in update of the Carson River Master Plan in
Carson City.

■ FEMA COMS2 projects studying flood hazards are ongoing and
will conclude in early 2026. Risk Communication and Safety
Preparedness will continue until late 2026. Projects in this grant
include Gold Canyon Area Drainage Master Plan; South Silver
Springs Area Drainage Master Plan; Pine Nut Wash/Sawmill Wash,
and Risk Communication and Safety Preparedness.

■ Staff participated in the annual Nevada Flood Awareness (FAW)
Week, Nov. 9-15, , 2025. Through FEMA COMS 2, funded Spanish
radio and television ads on Univision / Entravision for the FAW and
NevadaFloods.org campaign.

■ Staff demonstrated floodplain model and discussed floodplain
management plan update and the Douglas County Stormwater Master Plan at their Flood Awareness outreach event 
in November.

■ Staff reported CWSD’s efforts to reduce flood risk to Storey County, Carson City, and Douglas County in a report 
for the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Community Rating System.

■ Staff administered and assisted calculations for a North Dayton Valley (NDV) Benefit Cost Analysis project. This 
project reviewed the feasibility of flood reduction structures recommended by the NDV Area Drainage Master Plan. 
This project and corresponding report findings are compete as of December 2025.

■ Staff participated with Nevada’s Floodplain Manager on the flood awareness communication team. This team met 
throughout the year to coordinate outreach to teach residents and students about flood risk and safety preparedness. 
This work culminated in the annual Nevada Flood Awareness (FAW) Week, November 9-15,  2025. Through FEMA 
COMS2, funded Spanish radio and television ads on Univision / Entravision for the FAW and NevadaFloods.org cam-
paign. Staff demonstrated floodplain model and discussed floodplain management plan update and Emergency 
Preparedness at the Flood Awareness outreach event.

■ Debbie Neddenriep was recognized by FMA with the 2025 Andy Lee Award for Extraordinary Public Service for 
State Activities.

■ Edwin James was honored at the Nevada Water Resources Association Annual Conference in Reno with the 2025 
Lifetime Achievement Award in recognition of his dedication and service to Nevada’s water resources, his remarkable 
commitment and visionary leadership. See picture of Reed Cozens, President of NWRA present award to Ed above.

Page 54 of 97



Page 6 Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments 

River RehabilitaƟon & StabilizaƟon 

AcƟviƟes funded by CWSD in 2025 to facilitate river restoraƟon & stabilizaƟon included: 

■ Provided funding for the Carson Valley Stream Bank Restoration Projects.

■ Provided funding for River Restoration Projects in Dayton Valley.

■ Provided funding for Lahontan Conservation District for channel clearance projects in Churchill County.

■ Staff conƟnues to work closely with the Alpine Watershed Group on projects and programs in the upper
watershed including updaƟng the Carson River AdapƟve Stewardship Plan, providing input and funding for
the West Fork geomorphology and sediment transport model and prioriƟzaƟon plan, and input for a
similar project on the East Fork.

Activities conducted by CWSD in 2025 to provide outreach and education included: 

■ Staff planned, coordinated and hosted the annual CRC Watershed Forum March 3-4 at the Governor’s Mansion. The event
highlighted a variety of integrated watershed management projects and programs. The program included 25 speakers, with
more than 50 people aƩending each day. The Forum provided an opportunity for a
Carson River Master Plan stakeholder session on day two.

■ Weekly e-blasts containing watershed-relevant information to 1100+ subscribers.

■ Staff published the summer Watershed Connec ons digital newsleƩer, directly e-
mailed to more than 1,000 subscribers and available online.

■ Staff conƟnued to use messages and videos from the “I Am Carson River Watershed”
campaign in social media, with students, and for public presentaƟons.

■ Staff obtained CWSD funding for a watershed-literacy survey of Carson River
Watershed residents as a follow-up to the original 2015 survey. The update, wriƩen
and conducted by the 2015 team at Responsive Management, included quesƟons
about the “I Am Carson River Watershed” campaign.  Results are expected in early
2026.

■ Increased CWSD digital and social media presence on Instagram, Facebook, YouTube,
cwsd.org, and iamcarsonriver.org.

■ Staff demonstrated different flood scenarios with the flood models at outreach and educaƟon events throughout the year.
Over 500 adults and over 3,000 children learned about watersheds, floodplains, flood risk, flood preparedness, and flood

(continued on page 7) 

Page 55 of 97

Education & Outreach



■ CWSD, in conjuncƟon with Carson City and our contractor, completed the Mexican Dam portage project 
(see picture above) in December 2025. This project is parƟally funded by a grant from Nevada State 
Parks Regional Trails Program (RTP) (non-motorized) and includes signage, maps, and access to the 
Carson River AquaƟc Trail which will conƟnue to be implemented in 2026.   

Page 7 Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments 

Looking Ahead to 2026 

safety at community and school events such as River Wranglers Conserve Carson River Workdays, Trout in the Classroom, 
Snapshot Day, Ag in the Classroom, and Fallon Paiute Shoshone Tribe Earth Day, Nights Out in Storey County and Carson City, 
Snapshot Day, and Carson City’s Boonanza. Many of these events also included the Enviroscape, which illustrates the effects 
of non-point source polluƟon.  

AcƟviƟes conducted to support AWG Environmental EducaƟon Program in 2025 included: 

■ CWSD provided $30,000 in funding assistance to Alpine 
Watershed Group (AWG) to support their programs. 

AcƟviƟes conducted to support RW Environmental 
EducaƟon Program in 2025 included: 

■ CWSD provided $30,000 in funding to River Wranglers 
(RW) to conduct Conserve Carson River Workdays and 
$10,000 to conduct flood risk communicaƟon in 
watershed schools. The RW ExecuƟve Director 
maintained partnerships with local schools and offered 
opportuniƟes for students to increase their knowledge 
and understanding of water quality, environmental, and 
flooding issues in the watershed.   

■ Staff supports River Wranglers at many events 
demonstraƟng the effects of polluted runoff using the 
Environscape model at several watershed educaƟon and 
outreach events including Snapshot Day, Ag in the 
Classroom, and Tribal Earth Day events.  

(con nued from page 6) 

CWSD will conƟnue to work with federal, state, tribal, and local enƟƟes to leverage Ɵme and money 
through cooperaƟve projects and programs. CWSD will conƟnue to pursue federal and state grants to 
assist counƟes and local districts. As a regional district, our integrated watershed approach will conƟnue 
to assist enƟƟes to maximize project benefits, miƟgate challenges, and avoid duplicaƟon of  efforts for 
the benefit of the Carson River Watershed.  

CWSD will conƟnue to coordinate the Carson River CoaliƟon (CRC), a large stakeholder group  
(continued on page 8) 

RecreaƟon 

Mexican Dam Portage 

Page 56 of 97



 

Page 8 Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments  

Looking Ahead to 2026 

comprised of staff members of federal, tribal, state, local government organizaƟons, and the general 
public, that acts as a steering commiƩee for the Integrated Watershed Planning Process. This stakeholder 
model conƟnues to be successful as it provides the unique opportunity to work across mulƟple 
jurisdicƟons and share perspecƟves, as issues within the watershed oŌen do not end at jurisdicƟonal 
boundaries.  

CWSD will conƟnue to work with the CRC to update and implement regional plans to ensure ongoing 
federal and state funding is funneled to regional programs and projects. We look forward to conƟnuing 
these efforts to complete the tasks ahead and promote cooperaƟve acƟon for the health of the Carson 
River Watershed. Less available funding in 2026 may impact our ability to complete the following 
anƟcipated work:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(con nued from page 7) 

 Watershed Coordination 
■ Continue to work with the CRC to track, implement and plan 
updates to the Carson River Adaptive Stewardship Plan 
(CRASP) and web viewer/partner portal (funding dependent). 
■ Coordinate the Carson River Coalition and facilitate working 
groups. 
■ Host a CRC Carson River Watershed Management Forum and 
Get on the Bus Tour.  
■ Implement grant deliverables for Expansion of Carson River 
Aquatic Trail project. 
■ Utilize Watershed-Literacy Survey results to update Watershed
-Literacy Action Plan and the “I Am Carson River 
Watershed”outreach efforts. 
■ Continue to train partners on CRASP web viewer and partner 
portal project uploading. 

Water Quality  
■ Implement scheduled tasks in both Clean Water Act Section 
319(h) grants outlined in the Water Quality section. 
■ Conduct and implement a Clean Water Act Section  208 
planning study focused on water quality improvements as 
recommended in the 208 plan. 

River Rehabilitation, Stabilization  
& Invasive Species 
■ Continue to fund Stream Bank Rehabilitation Projects 
throughout the watershed. 
■ Pursue funding for geomorphology, sediment transport study, 
and project prioritization plan for the Nevada portion of the 
watershed. 
■ Provide funding and support Counties, Conservation Districts 
and Cooperative Weed Management Areas efforts to combat 
invasive species. 

Floodplain Management  
■ Track floodplain management activities to maximize points for 

community rating system (CRS).  
■ Manage FEMA Community Outreach and Mitigation 
Strategies (COMS 2) grant. Continue to monitor future CTP 
grant opportunities.   
■Monitor and adapt to federal changes in FEMA.  
■ Participate ASFPM, FMA, and Nevada Flood Awareness 
Communications Team and Nevada Emergency 
Preparedness Association.  
■ Expand partnerships with local and regional planners.  
■ Attend meetings focused on flood mitigation and risk 
reduction, such as events held by NEPA and Silver Jackets. 
■ Work with CRC to implement suggested actions outlined in 
the Regional Floodplain Management Plan as adopted by 
each County. 
■ Continue to work on establishing an inventory of river 
structures and projects. Identify repository to hold information 
in a way that is searchable.  

Water Supply 
■ Continue to present findings of the 30-Year Regional 
Drought and Water Sustainability Plan to water purveyors and 
stakeholders. 
■ Continue to work with Alpine County to maintain CASGEM 
(California Statewide Groundwater Elevation Monitoring). 
■ Prepare the 2026 Water and Sewer Rate Report. 
■ Continue fund, report on, and coordinate maintenance of 
Lost Lakes. 

We look forward to another  
wonderful year of working toward a  

healthy Carson River Watershed!  
Ed James, Catrina Schambra, Brenda Hunt,  

Debbie Neddenriep, Lindsay Budija & Kelly Nicholas 

Carson Water Subconservancy District 2025 Activities and Accomplishments 

Page 57 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #12

Page 58 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #12 – For Possible Action: Friends of Hope Valley Recognition 

  

DISCUSSION: In their Winter 2026 newsletter (see attached), the Friends of Hope Valley 
(FOHV) discussed their organization’s success over the past 41 years in preserving the 
scenic, recreational and historic uses of the valley. They stated how it is time for the 
organization to dissolve and let others carry the torch forward. This organization fought the 
good fight to protect and preserve Hope Valley from various development proposals, and 
we owe them a debt of gratitude for these now-public lands.   

 

The CWSD Board will present a Certificate of Achievement to the Friends of Hope Valley 
to recognize their exemplary service and shine a light on this amazing organization. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 
 

Page 59 of 97



Page 60 of 97



Page 61 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #13

Page 62 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #13 –For Discussion Only:  Presentation on the South Silver 
Springs Area Drainage Master Plan (ADMP)  

  

DISCUSSION:  A representative from Wood Rodgers will give a presentation on the South 
Silver Springs Area Drainage Master Plan (ADMP).  Presentation slides are attached. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 
 

Page 63 of 97



S
o

u
th

 S
ilv

e
r S

p
rin

g
s
 

A
re

a
 D

ra
in

a
g

e
 

M
a

s
te

r P
la

n
T
e

c
h

n
ic

a
l B

rie
fin

g
 fo

r C
a

rs
o

n
 W

a
te

r S
u

b
c
o

n
s
e

rv
a

n
c
y

D
is

tric
t &

 L
y
o

n
 C

o
u

n
ty

P
re

s
e
n
te

d
 B

y
 J

a
m

e
s
 S

p
rin

g
g
a
te

Page 64 of 97



M
e
e
ti
n
g
 A

g
e
n
d
a


P

u
rp

o
s
e
 o

f 
S

tu
d
y


E

x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 F

u
tu

re
 C

o
n
d
it
io

n
s


M

e
th

o
d
s
 o

f 
S

tu
d
y


R

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
s
u
lt
s


Q

&
A

Pa
ge

 6
5 

of
 9

7



P
u
rp

o
s
e
 o

f S
tu

d
y

A
N

A
L
Y

Z
E

 E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 
F

L
O

O
D

IN
G

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S
 IN

 
S

IL
V

E
R

 S
P

R
IN

G
S

.

M
O

D
E

L
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 

F
L
O

O
D

IN
G

 E
V

E
N

T
S

.

A
S

S
E

S
S

 P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 O

F
 

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 D
R

A
IN

A
G

E
 

IN
F

R
A

S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

E

ID
E

N
T

IF
Y

 F
E

A
S

IB
L
E

 
M

IT
IG

A
T

IO
N

 
S

T
R

A
T

E
G

IE
S

P
IC

T
U

R
E

 F
R

O
M

 2
0
2
0
 F

L
A

S
H

 
F

L
O

O
D

 E
V

E
N

T

Page 66 of 97



A
re

a
 o

f 
A

n
a
ly

s
is

Pa
ge

 6
7 

of
 9

7



M
e
th

o
d
s

•
L

iD
a

r
b

a
s
e

d
 D

E
M

 w
ith

 

F
ie

ld
-V

e
rifie

d
 C

u
lv

e
rts

•
H

E
C

-R
A

S
 2

D
, ra

in
-o

n
-

g
rid

, H
y
d

ro
lo

g
ic

 M
o

d
e

l

•
H

E
C

-H
M

S
 M

o
d

e
l 

V
e

rific
a

tio
n

•
N

E
X

R
A

D
 R

a
d

a
r 

R
e

fle
c
tiv

ity
 fo

r H
is

to
ric

 

S
to

rm
 V

a
lid

a
tio

n
 

(A
u

g
u

s
t 1

7
, 2

0
2

0
F

la
s
h

 

F
lo

o
d

 E
v
e

n
t)

•
G

re
e

n
 &

 A
m

p
t
In

filtra
tio

n
 

M
e

th
o

d
 u

s
in

g
 N

D
O

T
 

S
o

ils

•
1

0
0

-y
r, 2

5
-y

r, 1
0

-y
r, 5

-y
r 

s
to

rm
s
 a

n
a

ly
z
e

d

M
o

d
e

l S
o

ftw
a

re
M

o
d

e
l S

c
e

n
a

rio
P

e
a

k
 F

lo
w

H
E

C
-R

A
S

 6
.5

E
xis

tin
g

 C
o

n
d

itio
n

s
, 1

0
0

-ye
a

r
1

,0
8

5
 c

fs

H
E

C
-H

M
S

 4
.2

.1
E

xis
tin

g
 C

o
n

d
itio

n
s

, 1
0

0
-ye

a
r

1
,1

2
9

 c
fs

T
a

b
le

 7
: R

a
in

fa
ll E

s
tim

a
tio

n
 V

a
lid

a
tio

n

Page 68 of 97



H
y
d
ro

lo
g
ic

 
M

o
d
e
lin

g
 

S
c
e
n
a
ri

o
s

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

IN
T

E
R

IM
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

F
U

T
U

R
E

 B
U

IL
D

-O
U

T
 

C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

C
L
IM

A
T

E
 C

H
A

N
G

E
 

A
N

A
L
Y

S
IS

H
IS

T
O

R
IC

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

Pa
ge

 6
9 

of
 9

7



E
x
is

tin
g
 C

o
n
d
itio

n
s•

A
llu

v
ia

l fa
n

 d
ra

in
in

g
 fro

m
 

C
h

u
rc

h
ill B

u
tte

 to
w

a
rd

 

L
a

h
o

n
ta

n
 R

e
s
e

rv
o

ir

•
F

la
s
h

 flo
o

d
in

g
 d

riv
e

n
 b

y
 

s
h

o
rt-d

u
ra

tio
n

, h
ig

h
-in

te
n

s
ity

 

s
to

rm
s

•
L

o
w

 d
o

w
n

s
tre

a
m

 s
lo

p
e

s
 lim

it 

n
a

tu
ra

l d
ra

in
a

g
e

•
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rta

tio
n

 e
m

b
a

n
k
m

e
n

ts
 

(U
S

-9
5

, U
S

-5
0

, U
P

R
R

) 

c
o

n
tro

l c
o

n
v
e

y
a

n
c
e

S
tru

ctu
re

 T
y

p
e

5
-y

e
a

r 

sto
rm

1
0

-y
e

a
r 

sto
rm

2
5

-y
e

a
r 

sto
rm

1
0

0
-y

e
a

r 

sto
rm

R
e

s
id

e
n

tia
l

2
1

2
8

4
0

8
1

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

0
0

0
0

T
a

b
le

 9
: N

u
m

b
e

r o
f In

n
u

n
d

a
te

d
 S

tru
c

tu
re

s
, E

x
is

tin
g

 C
o

n
d

itio
n

s

Page 70 of 97



E
x
is

ti
n
g
 C

o
n
d
it
io

n
s

•
C

u
lv

e
rt

s
 6

, 
7

, 
a

n
d

 8
 c

lo
g

g
e

d

•
C

u
lv

e
rt

s
 1

, 
4

, 
a

n
d

 7
 u

n
d

e
rs

iz
e
d

C
u

lv
e

rt
 

ID
C

u
lv

e
rt

 S
iz

e
Fl

o
w

 T
y

p
e

5
-y

e
a

r 

st
o

rm
 (

c
fs

)

1
0

-y
e

a
r 

st
o

rm
 (

cf
s)

2
5

-y
e

a
r 

st
o

rm
 (

cf
s)

1
0

0
-y

e
a

r 

st
o

rm
 (

c
fs

)

C
u

lv
e

rt
1

2
2

4

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

2
7

2
8

1
2

7

C
u

lv
e

rt
2

6
3

1
3

7
4

3

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

C
u

lv
e

rt
1

3
1

3
1

4
1

4

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

C
u

lv
e

rt
6

7
1

3
6

1
5

0
1

6
5

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

7
8

6
6

6

C
u

lv
e

rt
4

9
1

4
1

8

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

C
u

lv
e

rt

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

C
u

lv
e

rt
7

3
1

0
2

1
2

6
1

3
5

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

1
6

4
1

1
5

6

C
u

lv
e

rt

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

C
u

lv
e

rt

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

C
u

lv
e

rt
1

1
1

7
2

6
3

6

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

C
u

lv
e

rt
5

9
7

8
9

4
1

0
1

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

C
u

lv
e

rt
3

0
3

6
4

2
4

7

O
ve

rt
o

p
p

in
g

0
0

0
0

3
2

4
" 

C
M

P

T
a

b
le

 8
: S

u
m

m
a

ry
 o

f 
E

xi
s

ti
n

g
 C

u
lv

e
rt

 P
e

a
k

 F
lo

w
 R

e
s

u
lt

s

1
1

8
" 

C
M

P

2
2

4
" 

C
M

P

4
4

8
" 

C
M

P

5
2

4
" 

C
M

P

6
2

4
" 

C
M

P
C

u
lv

e
rt

 C
lo

g
g

e
d

7
4

'x
3

' B
o

x

8
1

8
" 

C
M

P
C

u
lv

e
rt

 C
lo

g
g

e
d

1
2

3
6

" 
C

M
P

9
1

8
" 

C
M

P
C

u
lv

e
rt

 C
lo

g
g

e
d

1
0

4
4

"x
2

6
" 

E
li

p
ti

c
a

l 
C

M
P

1
1

3
6

" 
C

M
P

F
ig

u
re

 1
5

: 
U

S
-9

5
 O

v
e

rt
o

p
p

in
g

 n
e

a
r 

R
a

m
se

y
 W

e
e

k
s

Pa
ge

 7
1 

of
 9

7



D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t a

n
d
 G

ro
w

th
 in

 S
ilv

e
r S

p
rin

g
s
, 

N
e
v
a
d
a

D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 v

s
 U

n
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 P

a
rc

e
ls

U
n
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 S

in
g
le

 F
a
m

ily
 R

e
s
id

e
n
tia

l

U
n
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

U
n
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 O

th
e
rs

D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 S

in
g
le

 F
a
m

ily
 H

o
m

e
s

D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 M

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

re
d
 S

in
g
le

 F
a
m

ily
 R

e
s
id

e
n
c
e

D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

D
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 O

th
e
rs

Page 72 of 97



E
x
is

ti
n

g
 F

lo
o

d
 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
 i
n

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
ri
n

g
s

Pa
ge

 7
3 

of
 9

7



E
x
is

tin
g

 F
lo

o
d

 
C

o
n

d
itio

n
s
 in

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
rin

g
s

Page 74 of 97



E
x
is

ti
n

g
 F

lo
o

d
 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
 i
n

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
ri
n

g
s

Pa
ge

 7
5 

of
 9

7



E
x
is

tin
g

 F
lo

o
d

 
C

o
n

d
itio

n
s
 in

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
rin

g
s

Page 76 of 97



E
x
is

ti
n

g
 F

lo
o

d
 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s
 i
n

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
ri
n

g
s

Pa
ge

 7
7 

of
 9

7



E
x
is

tin
g

 F
lo

o
d

 
C

o
n

d
itio

n
s
 in

 
S

o
u

th
 S

ilv
e

r 
S

p
rin

g
s

Page 78 of 97



F
lo

o
d
 D

a
m

a
g
e
 A

re
a

s

Pa
ge

 7
9 

of
 9

7



R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
tio

n
s


A

d
o

p
tio

n
 o

f S
o

u
th

 S
ilv

e
r S

p
rin

g
s
 A

D
M

P


S

tru
c
tu

re
 ra

is
in

g
 to

 a
 m

in
im

u
m

 o
f tw

o
 fe

e
t 

a
b

o
v
e

 th
e

 B
a

s
e

 F
lo

o
d

 E
le

v
a

tio
n

 

d
e

m
o

n
s
tra

te
s
 s

tro
n

g
e

s
t b

e
n

e
fit-c

o
s
t 

p
e

rfo
rm

a
n

c
e


A

d
d

itio
n

a
l s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 d

e
ta

ils
, s

u
c
h

 a
s
 c

u
t-o

ff 

d
i tc

h
e

s


C

u
lv

e
rt u

p
g

ra
d
e

s
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

ig
n

ific
a

n
t 

e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 b

e
n

e
fits


D

e
te

n
tio

n
 p

o
n

d
s
 im

p
ro

v
e

 re
s
ilie

n
c
e

 b
u

t 

d
e

p
e

n
d

 o
n

 fu
tu

re
 g

ro
w

th

Page 80 of 97



P
la

n
 S

e
t

Pa
ge

 8
1 

of
 9

7



C
o
s
ts

 &
 B

e
n
e
fits

Page 82 of 97



AGENDA ITEM #14 

Page 84 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:  Board of Directors 
 
FROM: Edwin James  
 
DATE: January 21, 2026 
 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #14 – For Possible Action:  Approval on New General Manager 
Contract 

  

DISCUSSION:  Chair Schank, Vice Chair Koerner, Mr. King, and Mr. James met with  
Reed Cozens on January 8, 2026, to negotiate his employment agreement and set his hire 
date. It was agreed that his hire date will be January 30, 2026, and his starting salary will 
be $168,499/year. The proposed Employment Agreement is attached for approval by the 
CWSD Board of Directors.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve the CWSD Employment Agreement for Reed 
Cozens, General Manager as presented. 
 

Page 85 of 97



Page 1 of 8
GM EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2026 

CWSD EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is entered into this 21st day of January 2026, between the 
CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT (CWSD), a political subdivision of 
the State of Nevada and through a Joint Powers Agreement with Alpine County, 
California, by and through its duly constituted Board of Directors and Reed Cozens 
(General Manager) both of whom understand and agree to the following provisions: 

1. EMPLOYMENT.  CWSD hereby agrees to employ Reed Cozens as General
Manager of CWSD to perform the duties specified herein (see Exhibit A) and the
duties the Board of Directors shall from time-to-time assign.

2. DUTIES.  The General Manager shall perform those duties necessary to conduct
the directions of the Board of Directors, including, but not limited to, the duties
listed in the job description of the General Manager, as adopted by the Board of
Directors, and attached hereto as Exhibit A.

3. TERM OF AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall have an initial term of three (3)
years. 

4. SALARY.  CWSD shall pay the General Manager for services for an initial salary 
of $168,499 per year, plus a monthly automobile allowance of $500.  Cost of 
living and/or merit raises or increased monthly automobile allowance in addition 
to the foregoing may be considered on an annual basis.

5. BENEFITS.  The General Manager is entitled to all benefits as specified in the 
CWSD Personnel Manual, which includes medical, annual, management, and 
sick leave, and Public Employees Retirement System benefits.

6. TERMINATION AND SEVERANCE PAY.  In the event the General Manager is 
terminated by the Board of Directors during such time as the General Manager is 
willing and able to perform his duties under this agreement, CWSD agrees to pay 
the General Manager, and the General Manager agrees to accept, a lump sum 
cash payment equal to three (3) months  base salary in full settlement of such 
termination.  The General Manager shall also be paid for accrued and unused 
annual, management, and sick leave as set forth in the CWSD Personnel Policy 
Manual.

In the event the General Manager is terminated because of conviction of any 
felony or any offense involving a violation of his official duties or moral turpitude, 
or because he has violated any provision of this Agreement, CWSD shall have no 
obligation to pay any severance pay, but the General Manager, nonetheless,

Page 86 of 97



Page 2 of 8
GM EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2026 

shall be compensated in a lump sum for accrued and unused annual, 
management, and sick leave as set forth in the CWSD Personnel Policy Manual. 

7. RESIGNATION.  Unless otherwise agreed, if the General Manager voluntarily
resigns his position with CWSD, he agrees to give CWSD at least thirty (30) days
advance written notice.  In the event of voluntary resignation, CWSD shall not be
required or obligated to pay the General Manager severance pay, but the
General Manager shall be paid for accrued and unused annual, management,
and sick leave as set forth in the CWSD Personnel Policy Manual.

8. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION.  The Board of Directors shall review and
evaluate the performance of the General Manager at least once annually, near or
around June of each year.  Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance
with specific criteria developed jointly by CWSD and the General Manager.

9. DISPUTES/CONTROLLING LAW.  This Agreement shall be construed and
interpreted according to the laws of the State of Nevada; provided, however, that
there shall be no presumption for or against the drafter.  Any dispute arising from
this Agreement shall be resolved by a County of competent jurisdiction within the
State of Nevada.

10. MISCELLANEOUS TERMS AND CONDITIONS.  The Board of Directors shall fix
such other terms and conditions of employment as it may determine from time to
time, relating to the performance of the General Manager, provided such terms
and conditions are not inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions of this
Agreement or other controlling legal authority.

11. OUTSIDE SERVICES.  The General Manager shall be in the exclusive employ of
CWSD, focusing his time and attention on CWSD business, except that he may
engage in non-conflicting outside consulting services only with specific written
approval of the Board of Directors.

12. INDEMNIFICATION.  CWSD shall indemnify, defend, and hold the General
Manager harmless against any and all claims, losses, liabilities, and damages,
including attorneys' fees and costs, which arise from or relate to (i) the General
Manager's duties under this Agreement, and (ii) the General Manager's acts and
omissions as an employee of CWSD, provided that such acts or omissions were
done or omitted in good faith.  Such indemnification shall not include the General
Manager's bringing an action or other proceeding in his own name and in his own
right.

13. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

a) Entire Agreement.  This Agreement expresses the entire agreement of the
parties hereto and supersedes all prior promises, representations,
understandings, arrangements, and agreements between the parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof. The parties further acknowledge and

Page 87 of 97



Page 3 of 8
GM EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2026 

agree that neither of them has made any representation to induce the 
execution of this Agreement, except as specifically set forth herein. 

b) Amendment.  This Agreement may only be amended by consent of
both parties.  Any amendments must be written and executed with the
same formality as this Agreement.

c) Severability of Provisions.  If any provision, or any portion thereof,
contained in this Agreement is held unconstitutional, invalid, or
unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or portion thereof shall be
deemed severable, shall not become affected, and shall remain in full
force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Carson Water Subconservancy District has 
caused this Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by its Chairperson and 
the General Manager having signed and executed this Agreement on the date and year 
first above written. 

CARSON WATER 
SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

______________________________ _____________________________ 

Ernest Schank, Chairperson Reed Cozens, General Manager 

Date  _________________________ Date  ________________________ 

ATTEST: 

__________________________________ 
Catrina Schambra, Secretary to the Board 

Date  _____________________________ 

Page 88 of 97



CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

GENERAL MANAGER JOB DESCRIPTION 

FLSA Status:  Exempt Date:  October 15, 2025 

SUMMARY OF JOB PURPOSE: 

Plans, directs, manages, and oversees the activities and operations of Carson Water 
Subconservancy District (CWSD). Performs high-level administrative, technical, and 
professional work in directing and supervising the administration of CWSD organization. 
Prepares annual budget. Receives broad policy guidance from CWSD Board of 
Directors. This is a regular full-time position. 

QUALIFICATIONS: 

The General Manager must be able to perform each essential function satisfactorily. 
The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill, and/or ability 
required. 

ESSENTIAL FUNCTIONS: 

• This list sets forth the major duties and requirements of the job and is not all-
inclusive. The General Manager may be expected to perform job-related duties other
than those contained in this document. Develops, evaluates, and implements
administrative policies and procedures to meet CWSD goals and objectives;
supervises the performance of CWSD personnel; coordinates the activities of CWSD
to ensure timely, efficient, and effective delivery of programs and services.

• Selects, directs, develops, and evaluates staff; instructs and trains staff and provides
training programs to enhance the capabilities of staff and improve the delivery of
services; listens, responds to, and works to resolve employee problems, concerns,
complaints, and grievances; administers discipline for inadequate performance
and/or improper behavior. Regularly conducts comparison reviews of staff job
descriptions, pay and benefits to ensure in keeping with industry standards.

• Negotiates and represents CWSD in various activities and meetings with both
private and public agencies, governmental entities and individuals; testifies on state
and federal legislation; makes educational and informational presentations to various
organizations and news media.

• Oversees the development of the annual CWSD budget for approval by the Board;
monitors expenditures to ensure compliance with budgets; accounts for variances
between projected and actual expenditures and provides monthly financials to the
Board.

• Analyzes proposals regarding policies, programs, and services and develops
recommendations to the Board; analyzes information pertaining to CWSD services
and operations including policies, programs, methods, budgets, staffing,

EXHIBIT A

Page 4 of 8
Page 89 of 97



CWSD GENERAL MANAGER October 15, 2025 

organization, and capital needs. Writes reports and correspondence to government 
agencies, members of the community, and the Board. 

• Administers the preparation of CWSD meeting agendas; attends CWSD meetings;
works with office manager and legal staff to ensure open meeting law is followed;
makes oral and written presentations to CWSD’s Board of Directors and to other
public and private groups; provides information to the news media and the public
regarding CWSD operations; represents the CWSD with other government agencies
and in meetings with the public.

• Analyzes proposed legislation and administrative regulations for their impact on
CWSD operations; reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding
legislative activities; participates in the lobbying process by presenting oral and
written testimony to appropriate bodies.

• Oversees the development, submission cycle and process, management and
administration of all grants and other sources of alternative funding. Administers
legal compliance, documentation, expenditure tracking and reporting requirements
for federal, state, and local grants.

• Directs the collection of climatological and hydrologic data; advises the Board,
counties/cities, state and federal agencies in the evaluation of flood-threatened
areas for flood control and floodplain management planning and protection.

• Assists the Board with strategic planning to develop organization goals, objectives
and actions; provides leadership and strategic direction to identify capital and
resource needs to meet short- and long-range plans. Responsible for the
performance of the strategic plan.

• Advises the Board, counties/cities, state and federal agencies in the planning,
financing, design and construction of regional water supply, transmission, treatment
facilities, recreational activities, and noxious weed activities.

• Advises the Board, counties/cities, state and federal agencies, and the Carson River
Coalition stakeholders on integrated watershed planning and management issues
that may or do impact the water resources of the Carson River Basin.

• Demonstrates professional behavior in all interactions.

• Coordinate with staff and Board members to promote cooperation, teamwork and
comradery.

EDUCATION & EXPERIENCE: 

Bachelor’s degree in civil engineering or other water/natural resource-related field and a 
minimum ten years of progressively responsible experience in areas of water resource 
management including working with elected officials and public organizations. PE 
certification and/or related master’s degree preferred. 

REQUIRED CERTIFICATES, LICENSES, AND REGISTRATIONS: 

Valid driver’s license. 

REQUIRED KNOWLEDGE & SKILLS:  

Page 5 of 8 

Page 90 of 97



CWSD GENERAL MANAGER October 15, 2025 

Knowledge of: 

• Administrative principles and practices, including goal setting, program development,
implementation and evaluation, and the management of employees.

• Principles and practices of developing teams, motivating employees and managing
in a team environment.

• Principles of practices of  budget development and administration. Annual audit
preparation.

• Principles and practices of engineering administration, flood control projects, water
supply, and water transmission and treatment.

• Principles of floodplain protection, riverine and alluvial fan processes, and integrated
watershed planning and management.

• Federal, State, and local laws and regulations that govern CWSD’s work. Nevada
water law, the Alpine Decree, Code of Federal Regulations, etc.

• Federal, State and local contract and grant administration.

• Principles and techniques of making effective oral presentations.

• Applicable Open Meeting Laws.

• Functions, authority, responsibilities and limitations of an elected/appointed Board of
Directors.

Skill to: 

• Develop budgets, policies and goals consistent with CWSD directives.

• Manage flood control, drainage, water supply, treatment, transmission, and
integrated watershed planning and management projects.

• Plan, direct, and evaluate the work of staff.

• Develop, motivate, and supervise staff.

• Work effectively under the pressure of deadlines, conflicting demands, and
emergencies; gain cooperation through discussion and persuasion.

• Collect, interpret, and evaluate narrative and statistical data pertaining to policy,
fiscal, and operational matters.

• Analyze policies, regulations, projects, activities, and methods.

• Project the consequences of proposed actions.

• Implement administrative policies and work programs consistent with regulations
and with CWSD policies and goals.

• Understand, interpret, and apply laws and regulations.

• Identify and develop effective grant applications.

• Present findings, recommendations, and policies to individuals and groups in an
understandable and persuasive manner.

Page 6 of 8 

Page 91 of 97



CWSD GENERAL MANAGER October 15, 2025 

• Communicate effectively verbally and in writing on matters related to department
policies, funding, and operations.

• Use PC and common office equipment. Skilled in MS Word, Excel, PowerPoint,
Adobe Acrobat, Word Press, Zoom and QuickBooks.

• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence and other written materials.

• Use initiative and independent judgment within general policy guidelines.

• Resolve conflicts.

SUPERVISION RECEIVED & EXERCISED: 

Under Board Direction – The General Manager is responsible for unusual, technical, 
complex, sensitive, political, and far-reaching work-related issues and for policy 
recommendations to the CWSD Board of Directors. The General Manager will plan, 
organize, and determine work methods, implementation mechanisms, and operating 
procedures used to achieve goals and objectives set forth by general plans, broad 
policies, budgetary limitations, and legal and professional standards. The General 
Manager has responsibility for planning and organizing work, as well as considerable 
latitude interpreting and applying broad policies, rules, and regulations. Work 
performance is usually measured by total results and a governing body usually provides 
supervision. This type of direction is normally reserved for management and executive 
level positions. 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS & WORKING ENVIRONMENT: 

The physical demands described herein are representative of those that must be met by 
an employee to successfully perform the essential functions of the job.  Reasonable 
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the 
essential functions.  

Mobility to work in a typical office setting, use standard office equipment and stamina to 
sit for extended periods of time; strength to lift and carry up to 30 pounds; vision to read 
printed materials; and hearing and speech to communicate in person or over the 
telephone; exposure to traffic conditions and external environment when traveling. 

Position usually functions indoors in an office environment where most work is 
performed at a desk. Position also functions outside with exposure to extreme weather 
conditions including heat, rain, snow, cold, and wind. Work may be performed 
independently and may be in isolated geographic areas. Must drive extensively 
throughout the region as necessary and be able to navigate unmaintained roads that 
may require 4-wheel drive capabilities. Must be physically able to hike to project sites 
through mountainous and steep terrain. 

CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT: 

1. General Manager may be required to work some evenings, weekends, and
holidays. Presence is required at Board meetings.

2. The General Manager is an “At Will” employee and as such, may be terminated
at any time for any reason, or no reason.

Page 7 of 8 

Page 92 of 97



CWSD GENERAL MANAGER October 15, 2025 

3. Continued employment is contingent upon all required licenses and certificates
being maintained in active status without suspension or revocation.

4. CWSD participates in E-Verify and will provide the Social Security Administration
and, if necessary, the Department of Homeland Security, with information from
each applicant’s Form I-9 to confirm work authorization. All candidates who are
offered employment must complete Section 1 of the Form I-9 along with the
required proof of their right to work in the United States and proof of their identity
prior to starting employment. Please be prepared to provide required
documentation as soon as possible after the job offer is made.

I have read and understand the contents of this Job Description, and I have 
received a copy of this Job Description for my records. 

PRINT NAME: ____________________________________________ 

SIGNATURE: ______________________________  DATE: ________________ 

Carson Water Subconservancy District is an Equal Opportunity Employer 

This job description indicates, in general, the nature and levels of work, knowledge, 
skills, abilities and other essential functions expected of the General Manager. It is not 
designed to cover or contain a comprehensive listing of activities, duties or 
responsibilities required of the General Manager. The General Manager may be asked 
to perform other duties as required.  

Page 8 of 8 

Page 93 of 97



STAFF REPORTS 

Page 94 of 97



 

 

CARSON WATER SUBCONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 

 
TO:   Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Edwin James  
 
DATE:  January 21, 2026 
 
SUBJECT:  Agenda Item #15 - For Information Only:  Staff Report  

 
DISCUSSION: The following is a list of meetings/activities attended by Ed James and staff since the last Board 
meeting of December 17, 2025: 

12/18  Staff Christmas Party Luncheon 

12/22  Staff Meeting 

12/23  Ed & Debbie met with contractor re:  Sawmill Project 

12/23  Ed, Brenda, Debbie, Lindsay & Kelly met to discuss grant opportunities & project ideas 

1/5  Special Board Meeting to interview General Manager Applicants 

1/5  Ed & Brenda met with Douglas County Community Services Director to discuss grant opportunities 

1/6  Ed & Lindsay presented the 30-Year Drought & Water Sustainability Plan to the TCID Board 

1/6  Brenda & Kelly hosted the quarterly CRC Agriculture Producers Working Group Meeting 

1/6  Ed & Catrina met with Nashville Social Club Manager to plan Retirement Party 

1/7  Brenda, Debbie, Lindsay & Kelly met for grant project formulation discussion 

1/7  Brenda met with Sherm Swanson regarding potential grant opportunity 

1/8  Ed & Debbie met with UNR Grad Student & Professor to discuss Project with Douglas County 

1/8  Ed, Debbie & Lindsay hosted FMA Luncheon at Ruvo Hall 

1/8  Ed & Lindsay presented the 30-Year Drought & Water Sustainability Plan to Stagecoach GID Board 

1/12  Brenda met with NRCS Staff re:  Regen Ag Pilot Project Requirements 

1/12  Debbie & Kelly interviewed Fred Stodieck for CWSD Oral History Project 

1/13  Lindsay attended Carson City Insurance Committee Meeting 

1/13  Brenda & Kelly attended Carson River Master Plan Meeting 

1/13  Brenda & Lindsay attended Douglas County Planning Commission to hear presentation of Transfer 
of Development Rights Study 

1/13  Lindsay attended NWRA End of Year Financials Board Meeting 

1/13  Kelly interviewed Dan Kaffer for CWSD Oral History Project 

1/14  Brenda & Kelly attended Nevada Creeks & Communities Team Meeting 

1/14  Debbie attended ASFPM Co-Chair Meeting 

Page 95 of 97



2 
1/21/26 CWSD Board Meeting 
Agenda Item #15- Staff Report 

 

 

1/14  Lindsay attended NWRA Conference Data Center Panel Meeting 

1/14   Brenda & Kelly met with Carson City Staff regarding grant water quality sampling 

1/15  Lindsay attended Poker Run & Fun with Exhibitors NWRA Conference Meeting 

1/15  Debbie attended ASFPM Arid Regions Meeting 

1/20  Ed & Lindsay presented the 30-Year Drought & Water Sustainability Plan to Alpine County Board 

1/20  Ed & Lindsay presented the 30-Year Drought & Water Sustainability Plan to Storey County Board 

1/20  Ed & Brenda attended AWG West Fork Carson Prioritization Project Community Meeting 

1/21  Lindsay presented the 30-Year Drought & Water Sustainability Plan to the Indian Hills GID Board 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file. 

Page 96 of 97



NO CORRESPONDENCE 

Page 97 of 97


	1-21-26 #1 Agenda
	#6 insert (last minutes)
	1-21-26 #6 12-17-25 Bd Mtg Mins (draft)
	1-21-26 #6A 1-5-26 Bd Mtg Mins (draft)
	#7 insert
	1-21-26 #7 Andy Aldax Award
	1-21-26 #7A Aldax Award -Terry Katzer Carson River_ Nomination
	1-21-26 #7B Aldax Award -Fred Stodieck
	#8 insert (TreasRpt)
	1-21-26 #8 Treasurers Report
	#9 insert (Pmt of Bills)
	1-21-26 #9 Bills Paid Report
	#10 insert
	Page 1

	1-21-26 #10 Kimley-Horn board letter
	1-21-26 #10A KH - Regen Ag Engineering Contract
	3-19-25 #12A  Kimley Horn Sawmill Agreement

	#11 insert
	Page 1

	1-21-26 #11 accomps report
	1-21-26 #11A accomps report
	#12 insert
	Page 1

	1-21-26 #12 FOHV Recognition
	1-21-26 #12A  FOHV Newsletter
	#13 insert
	Page 1

	1-21-26 #13 S Silver Springs ADMP Presentation
	1-21-26 #13A SS Slides
	#14 insert
	1-21-26 #14 GM EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
	1-21-26 #14A General Manager Employment Contract - 2026 REED COZENS
	General Manager Employment Contract - 2026
	General Manager Job Description 10-17-25

	Staff reports
	1-21-26 #15 STAFF REPORT
	NO CORRESPONDENCE insert



